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Foreword

Preservation of Hyde Farm has been made possible by Cobb County, the National Park
Service, and a variety of other private entities and individuals, each of whom has naturally
brought a particular perspective to the project. For some, Hyde Farm is part of a much-need-
ed nature preserve; for others, it gives a glimpse of life in the Georgia piedmont a hundred
years ago. For many, Hyde Farm is simply an escape from the pressures of modern life. Part
of the richness of the experience of Hyde Farm is the variety of interests and emotions that a
visit can elicit.

One of the goals of the present study is to establish a plan for treatment and use of the Hyde
Farm Outbuildings that permits the widest range of interpretations while preserving as much
of the historic buildings’ features and materials as possible. Just as a builder would not begin
construction without first understanding his client’s goals and expectations, the particulars of
a building site, and the materials with which he will work, so the goals of historic preservation
require that our work begin with a firm foundation of knowledge of the buildings’ history and
significance and the materials with which they are constructed. This historic structure report
(HSR) is intended to provide that foundation, a baseline of information against which future
work can be assessed.

The HSR format has been in place for many years and is widely accepted throughout the
public and private sector. Its use helps ensure that the historic building is not compromised
by approaches to preservation that are grounded on personal whim, romantic perceptions of
the past, or expedient notions of repair. Only through a disciplined approach to the care of a
historic building can those common pitfalls be avoided.

One of the primary goals of this HSR is to ensure that there is consensus on how to move
forward with the preservation of Hyde Farm. It is not a prescriptive document, but rather

is intended to provide a conceptual plan for treatment and use. It makes recommendations,
but these are of necessity somewhat general in nature and must be fleshed out and constantly
re-evaluated as the work moves forward, new information is uncovered, and our understand-
ing of the site broadens. Simply, it provides a framework for decision-making as we work to
preserve Hyde Farm for this and future generations.

Patty Wissinger

Superintendent, Chattahoochee River National Recreation Area
National Park Service

August 2013
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Management Summary

This historic structure report (HSR) on the twelve
outbuildings at Hyde Farm has been developed

in conjunction with an HSR on the Power-Hyde
House and a cultural landscape report (CLR) on
all of Hyde Farm. These documents are intended
to provide basic guidance for Cobb County and
the National Park Service in their ongoing work to
rehabilitate and preserve Hyde Farm.

Historical Data

Construction of the log house at the core of Hyde
Farm has been traditionally attributed to James
Cooper “Jim” Power (1814 - 1901), the son of
Joseph and Isabella Ballew Power. Members of the
Power family were among the earliest white set-
tlers in DeKalb County in the 1820s and in Cobb
County in the 1830s. Jim Power and his wife, Rosa
(1812-1894), began farming what is now Hyde
Farm in the 1840s and continued to do so into the
late nineteenth century.

After Jim Power’s death in 1901, the farm remained
in the family, owned by his son William Reynolds
Power (1850-1919). The latter’s death in March
1919 left the farm encumbered by a mortgage, and
on 2 January 1920, it was auctioned on the court-
house steps in Marietta. Jesse Hyde (1881-1972),
whose parents had begun farming as tenants of Jim
Power in the early 1870s, was the high bidder.

Jesse and his wife Lela Hyde (1882-1961) made
improvements to the house and constructed a
series of new barns and outbuildings and, with
their two bachelor sons, Buck (1906-1987) and J. C.
(1909-2004), continued farming in the traditional
manner for most of their lives. Even as suburban
development transformed eastern Cobb County in
the decades after World War II, the Hydes did little
to modernize their farm, and by the late twentieth
century it was, partly for that reason, a landmark
in the county. The property remained in the family
until after J. C. Hyde’s death in 2004. The farm is
now jointly owned by Cobb County and National
Park Service.

The Chattahoochee River National Recreation

Area’s Historic Resource Study (2007) established
a broad context for understanding and interpreting
Hyde Farm, and an oral history project and addi-
tional research for a Special History Study were be-
gun in late 2009. When completed, that study will
provide a more localized and detailed historical
context that is critical to a comprehensive under-
standing of the site’s history. In the meantime, the
present history provides an historical framework
for understanding the historic structure and to in-
form development of treatment recommendations
for the house and other structures on the property.

Primary sources of information are the Federal
census (1790-1930); public records in Cobb,
Dekalb, and Fulton counties, including records of
marriages, deaths, wills, probate, taxes, deeds, and
mortgages; a variety of historic maps and photo-
graphs; and oral interviews with members of the
Hyde family and others.

Periods of significance at Hyde Farm may include
the prehistoric era, the Power period (c. 1830-
1920), and the Hyde period (1920-2004). Further
archeological investigation is needed to determine
dates for the prehistoric occupation of the farm,
although evidence of early sites survives on the
floodplains. The Power period spans the initial
settlement of Cobb County and over 70 years of
continuous farming. The Hyde period begins with
Jesse Hyde’s purchase of the farm in 1920 and ex-
tends over 80 years to the end of the family’s resi-
dency, marked by the passing of J. C. Hyde in 2004.
The inclusion of the early twenty-first century in
the period of significance takes into account the
lifelong residency of J. C. Hyde and the exceptional
continuity of farming amid rapid suburban growth
that is perhaps the site’s most significant aspect.
The twentieth-century history of the farm retains
the most integrity, but Hyde Farm’s nineteenth and
early twentieth century vernacular architecture and
cultural landscape still reflect the continuity of ag-
riculture on the Chattahoochee River. The collec-
tion of archeological sites, specialized outbuildings,
and field patterns together compose a landscape
significant to settlement and farming in piedmont
Georgia.

National Park Service 1



Architectural Data

The Outbuildings at Hyde Farm are the product of
several generations of construction and changes
over the more than one-hundred-and-sixty years
during which the farm was occupied and used.
Historical documentation has shed little light on
the construction of the Outbuildings and their sub-
sequent evolution over time. Building investigation
has been non-destructive, but like a palimpsest,

an outline of the buildings’ histories can be deci-
phered in the present structures.

The Outbuildings at Hyde Farm include a dozen,
wood-framed structures that were built over a
hundred-year period beginning in the last quarter
of the nineteenth century. The oldest are the Gear
House, Tool Shed, and Old Corn Crib, with parts
of the Well House perhaps contemporaneous with
those three buildings. The Barn was likely built
shortly before World War I, although the Hydes
added the three, shed-roofed additions (two on the
east and one on the west). The Goat House, Brood
House, and North and South Chicken Houses were
built in the 1920s or 1930s, while the Truck Shel-
ter/Corn Crib was built in the late 1940s. The Hog
Shed and the Privy probably date to the third quar-
ter of the twentieth century, although the latter was
not moved to the property until the 1980s.

The existing character of the Outbuildings at Hyde
Farm is one of deterioration and decay, although
that is not their historic character and is the result
of deferred maintenance in the last years of J.C.
Hyde’s life. Nevertheless, the Hydes were very
utilitarian in their approach to building mainte-
nance and appear never to have made an alteration
simply for the sake of appearance. Repairs were
made only for function or necessity and always had
a “make-do” quality that is a significanct part of the
buildings’ historic character.

Significance and Integrity

Hyde Farm is eligible for listing in the National
Register as an exceptionally well-preserved ex-
ample of an upper-piedmont Georgia farm that
was worked continuously for over 150 years. The
site contributes to the history of land use in the
Chattahoochee River valley and represents early
settlement patterns and nineteenth and twentieth-
century agriculture (Criteria A). The farm contains
examples of vernacular architecture from both
before and after the Civil War and, combined with
spatial organization and terraced fields compos-
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ing an extant vernacular landscape, represent the
range of the site’s history (Criteria C). The cultural
landscape of Hyde Farm also includes potentially
eligible prehistoric archeological sites (Criteria D).

The contributing historic structures and landscape
features of Hyde Farm are contained within dis-
tinct boundaries defined in part by the county land
lot system. Hyde Farm should be listed as an his-
toric district encompassing land lots 216, 221, the
southern half of 222, and fractional lots 282 and
284. These boundaries correspond with the historic
property owned by the Power and Hyde families
and encompass the 94.7-acre site now managed by
Cobb County and the National Park Service and

a riverfront tract (fractional land lot 282) already
owned by the NPS. The Chattahoochee River
bounds Hyde Farm to the east and suburban devel-
opment borders the north and west. To the south,
the NPS preserves open space and woodlands in
the Johnson Ferry Unit of the Chattahoochee River
National Recreation Area.

Periods of significance at Hyde Farm may include
the prehistoric era, the Power period (c. 1830-
1920), and the Hyde period (1920-2004). Further
archeological investigation is needed to determine
dates for the prehistoric occupation of the farm,
although evidence of early sites survives on the
floodplains.

The Power period spans the initial settlement of
Cobb County and over 70 years of continuous
farming. The Hyde period begins with Jesse Hyde’s
purchase of the farm in 1920 and extends over 80
years to the end of the family’s residency, marked
by the passing of J. C. Hyde in 2004. The inclusion
of the early twenty-first century in the period of
significance takes into account the lifelong resi-
dency of J. C. Hyde and the exceptional continuity
of farming amid rapid suburban growth that is one
of the site’s most significant aspect. The twentieth-
century history of the farm retains the most integ-
rity, but Hyde Farm’s nineteenth and early twen-
tieth century vernacular architecture and cultural
landscape still reflect the continuity of agriculture
on the Chattahoochee River. The collection of ar-
cheological sites, specialized outbuildings, and field
patterns together compose a landscape significant
to settlement and farming in piedmont Georgia.

The aspects of integrity evaluated as part of the
National Register criteria include location, setting,
design, materials, workmanship, association, and
feeling. These distinct qualities considered together
convey historical significance and address architec-
tural features and characteristics that express time



and place. The Outbuildings at Hyde Farm retain
a significant degree of integrity in all seven aspects
that convey the historic vernacular architecture.
The character and feeling of the farm remain
much the same as the Power and Hyde families
experienced them in the nineteenth and twentieth
centuries.

Recommendations

The significance of the Outbuildings does not lie

in the distinction of any individual building or
buildings but rather as contributing structures in

a larger, historically significant cultural landscape.
All of the buildings have similar problems of repair
and are deteriorated, some of them ruinously so.
Since the county and the park have established a
goal of re-establishing a working farm, active use of
most of the structures will be necessary, including
places for storage of farm equipment and supplies
and, perhaps, to house animals. At the same time,
the County and NPS will want to present and inter-
pret the historic buildings for the visitors, includ-
ing appropriate display of some of the site’s large
museum collection in at least some of the build-
ings. For these reasons, rehabilitation is the recom-
mended approach to treatment of the Outbuildings
at Hyde Farm.

Rehabilitation, as an approach to treatment, places
a high priority on preservation of historic building
materials but allows greater latitude in the amount
of material replacement, both in making repairs
and in making compatible improvements and alter-
ations that might be necessary for continued use.
Every effort will be made to preserve historic build-
ing materials and features, with replacement a last
resort where the extent of deterioration is such that
repair is not possible; but the poor condition of
some of the existing building materials, particularly
on the exterior of the Outbuildings, will necessitate
extensive replacement of historic materials.

A major challenge to appropriate rehabilitation of
the Outbuildings will be maintenance of the rather
ad-hoc appearance of many aspects of the family’s
treatment of the historic structures. Meeting this
challenge will sometimes necessitate replication

of less-than-optimal materials and methods. For
instance, the excessively wide exposure and poor
grade of lumber used for the exterior siding are
character-defining features that should be pre-
served. The impulse to “improve” the original work
should be resisted, even if in some cases redesign
and/or new materials might simplify maintenance.
A major aspect of vernacular architecture is often

MANAGEMENT SUMMARY

irregular features, materials, and treatment, and
those should be preserved wherever possible. Ma-
terials already on site should be used for repairs if
appropriate, since most of it was acquired for that
purpose.

General Recommendations

« carefully remove debris and rotted wood in
and around buildings by hand

+ salvage building elements that may have be-
come detached

« make an ongoing record of hidden conditions
that are revealed during the course of the work

+ replacement of material is always a last resort
where repair is not possible; new material
should match all visual qualities of the original
material

« compile a complete “Record of Treatment” at
the end of the project.

Recommendations for Site:

+ avoid any ground-disturbing activity until an
archeological survey is complete.

« repair grade around the buildings to ensure
proper drainage away from them on all sides

+ ensure stable footing for all rock piers while
avoiding installation of concrete footers

Recommendations for Foundations:

+ restore and maintain grade around perimeter
of buildings to expose full height of each rock
pier

« reconstruct missing or unstable piers at the
south side of the Truck Shelter, the northwest
side of the Gear House, and elsewhere as nec-
essary, using traditional dry-laid method and
existing stone

« repair and maintain rock underpinning on the
Brood House and wherever it exists

Recommendations for Wood Framing:

+ make repair and rehabilitation of the Goat
House and the North and South Chicken
Houses the first priority in rehabilitation of the
Outbuildings;

if repairs to the Goat House and chicken hous-
es are not feasible, reconstruct in kind, re-using
existing building parts wherever possible;

if buildings are not reconstructed, ensure ad-
equate documentation for future reconstruc-
tion;

National Park Service 3



+ determine appropriate alterations to the struc-
ture of the Old Corn Crib, preferably preserv-
ing it in situ;

+ if necessary, dismantle and reconstruct Old
Corn Crib, utilizing all existing materials ex-
cept for rotted sills;

« replace most sills on the Barn, the Gear House,
the Tool Shed, and the Brood House and make
repairs to studs, posts, and rafters as necessary;

« match specie, grade, milling, and actual dimen-
sions of replacement material.

+ date stamp all replacement materials so that, in
the future, they can be distinguished from the
historic material.

Recommendations on Roofing:

+ repair and maintain existing roofing as long as
it remains serviceable

+ regularly inspect roofing from the exterior and
interior, especially after high winds

« when it reaches the end of its useful life, roof-
ing should be replaced in kind, maintaining the
historic roofing profile

+ donot install gutters and downspouts

Recommendations for Siding and Trim:
+ repair siding, replacing only where necessary;

+ maintain historic differences in types of siding
on the various buildings;

« use common wire nails for all repairs;

+ use #2 southern yellow pine for all exterior
woodwork, except on the Tool Shed where oak
should be used;

« make every effort to preserve in place any
siding or trim installed with square-headed,
machine-cut nails;

+ avoid protective or decorative coats, including
paint and clear coats;

+ date stamp all replacement materials so that, in
the future, they can be distinguished from the
historic material.

Recommendations for Utilities:

+ install fire detection and suppression systems
in the Barn, Old Corn Crib, Truck Shelter, Gear
House, and Tool Shed;

« provide potable water supply to the Barn;

+ if needed for operations, install simple electri-
cal service.
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Administrative Data

Location Data

Building Names: Well House, North and South
Chicken Houses, Brood House, Goat House, Gear
House, Tool Shed, Truck Shelter/Corn crib, Old
Corn Crib, Barn, Hog Pen, Privy

Location: Hyde Road, Chattahoochee River
National Recreation Area, Cobb County, Georgia

Related Studies

General Management Plan/EIS, Chattahoochee
River National Recreation Area. Atlanta,
Georgia: National Park Service. Final 2009.

Gerdes, Marti, and Scott Messer; Tommy Jones
and Jody Cook, editors. Chattahoochee River
National Recreation Area Historic Resource
Study. Atlanta, Georgia: National Park Service,
Southeast Regional Office, February 2007.

Jones, Tommy; Ryan Polk, J. Tracy Stakely.
“Preliminary Condition Assessment and
Preservation Action Plan. Cultural Resources
Division, Southeast Regional Office, National
Park Service. July-August 2008.” Unpublished.

O’Grady, Patricia D. and Charles B. Poe.
“Chattahoochee River National Recreation
Area, Cultural Resource Inventory:
Archeological Sites Final Report.” Tallahassee,
Florida: Southeast Archeological Center,
National Park Service, Department of Interior,
1980.

Real Property Information
Acquisition Date: 2010

List of Classified Structures Identification:
908585 HF-9 Barn

908598 HF-10 Brood House
906475 HF-5 Gear House
908607 HF-11 Goat House
908613 HF-12 Hog Shed
906485 HF-6 North Chicken House
908628 HF-13 Privy

906496 HF-7 South Chicken House



906462 HF-4 Truck Shelter
906508 HF-8 Well House
793168 N/A  Corn Crib
Cultural Resources Data

National Register Status: Determined eligible but
not yet listed.

Proposed Treatment: Rehabilitation

MANAGEMENT SUMMARY
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Historical Background

and Context

Construction of the log house at the core of Hyde
Farm has been traditionally attributed to James
Cooper “Jim” Power (1814 - 1901), the son of
Joseph and Isabella Ballew Power. Members of the
Power family were among the earliest white set-
tlers in DeKalb County in the 1820s and in Cobb
County in the 1830s. Jim Power and his wife, Rosa
(1812-1894), began farming what is now Hyde
Farm in the 1840s and continued to do so into the
late nineteenth century.

After Jim Power’s death in 1901, the farm remained
in the family, owned by his son William Reynolds
Power (1850-1919). The latter’s death in March
1919 left the farm encumbered by a mortgage, and
on 2 January 1920, it was auctioned on the court-
house steps in Marietta. Jesse Hyde (1881-1972),
whose parents had begun farming as tenants of Jim
Power in the early 1870s, was the high bidder.

Jesse and his wife Lela Hyde (1882-1961) made
improvements and additions to the house and
constructed several new outbuildings in the second
quarter of the twentieth century. With their two
bachelor sons, Buck (1905-1987) and J. C. (1909-
2004), they continued farming in the traditional
manner for most of their lives. Even as suburban
development transformed eastern Cobb County in
the decades after World War II, the Hydes did little
to modernize their farm, and by the late twentieth
century it was, for that reason, a landmark in the
county. The property remained in the family until
after J. C. Hyde’s death in 2004.

This section of the HSR is intended to provide
historical background and context necessary to
understand the Outbuildings at Hyde Farm.!

The Power Family

According to family tradition, the Power family that
played such a large role in the early settlement of
what are now Fulton and Cobb counties was de-

1. For additional details on the historical context, see the
Power-Hyde House HSR.

scended from John Power, a Scots-Irish immigrant
from Ulster to Pennsylvania in the 1760s. By 1780,
the family was in Laurens County, South Carolina,
where they remained until after the War of 1812
when four brothers—Joseph, Thomas, John, and
James— migrated to Georgia.’

Joseph Power

Born on 6 March 1780, Joseph Power married Isa-
bella Ballew, but the date of their marriage has not
been documented. Their first known child, James
Cooper Power, was born in South Carolina on 12
June 1814. By the time the Powers’ second child,
John Gaines Power, was born in 1816, the War

of 1812 was over and the family had relocated to
Georgia. Where they lived in Georgia has not been
documented, but it most likely was in northeast
Georgia.

Until 1818, the state’s western boundary was at the
Apalachee River, a few miles west of Athens, with
the territory west of that river remaining in Creek
hands until the Treaty of Indian Springs in 1821.
That treaty moved the state’s boundary to the Flint
River, and the new territory was quickly organized
into five large counties. As was the case through
much of the early nineteenth century, the new
cession was distributed by lottery, and by the time
DeKalb County was organized in December 1822,
white settlers were pouring into the area. They
would soon be joined by several members of the
Power family.

The loss of nearly all courthouse records when
the DeKalb County courthouse burned in 1842
makes a full accounting of the family’s early years
in DeKalb County impossible, but recent research
has shown that, on 8 December 1826, Joseph

2. The family’s genealogy has been documented by Todd
Frary, who consulted a variety of sources including an
unpublished family history. Reference has also been found
to information in a Bible owned by Samuel Wesley Power
(1830-1916) which provides names for John Power’s parents
as well as several marriage, birth, and death dates not
found elsewhere. See <http://www.geocities.com/Bourbon-
Street/4492/power.htm>, accessed 18 March 2009.

National Park Service 7



Figure 1. View of chimney at site of the Power family’s
house on the Fulton County side of the river. (NPS, 2008)

Power took title to Land Lot 83 in the 17th District
of Henry County, then DeKalb County, and, after
1854, Fulton County. Encompassing a prominent
hill around which the river loops in its generally
southwesterly course, the land lot is located two

or three miles downstream from the now-flooded
Shallow Ford, where the area’s best-known prehis-
toric trail crossed the river on its way to the north-
west. Power’s property included a second, less-
traveled ford, known historically as Powers Ford,
that existed until it was flooded by Bull Sluice Lake
in the early twentieth century. Power built a house
on the brow of a hill overlooking the river, most
likely for his family not long after he acquired the
property. In 1839, he conveyed the house and land
lot to his son William H. Power who lived there
the rest of his life and operated a ferry just down-
stream from Powers Ford. By that time, Joseph and
Isabella Power had probably already moved their
family to the Cobb County side of the river.?

Until recently, Joseph Power’s youngest brother,
James (1790-1870), had been the best-known of
the Power family, primarily because of the ferry
that he established in the 1830s a few miles down-
stream from today’s Hyde Farm. Local histories
have long held that James Power arrived in DeKalb

3. Joseph, J.W., and Wm. Matthew Tankersley. “An Archaeo-
logical Assessment of the Power’s House Site, (9FU651),
Morgan Falls Park, Sandy Springs,” unpublished mss by New
South Associates, Technical Report 1775, prepared for the
Sandy Springs Conservancy, August 2009, pp. 4-5. Also see
Fulton County Deed Book 339, pp. 504-506, which records
affidavits by Pinkney and George Power stating that their
father gave the land lot with a house on it to their brother
William H. Power in 1839.
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County in 1826, most likely with one or more of his
brothers and their families. He went on to serve as
ajustice of the Inferior Court in DeKalb County
and justice of the peace in the Buckhead district

in the early 1830s. For that reason, he was often
known as “Judge Power,” a nomenclature that will
be used in this study in order to distinguish him
from his less well-known nephew, James Cooper
“Jim” Power, builder of the log house at the core of
the Power-Hyde House.

It is assumed that Joseph and Isabella Power settled
on the Cobb side of the river around the same time
as did his brother, i.e. in the early to mid-1830s;
and by the 1840s, Joseph Power had assembled

a farm that encompassed several hundred acres
between Willeo Creek and Johnson Ferry Road.
None of Joseph Power’s documented property in
Cobb County was granted by the State before No-
vember 1835 when Lot 281 (where Joseph would
build a the family’s house on the Cobb County side
of the river) was granted to Jonathon Baker Sr. of
Washington County, Georgia. It is not known when
Joseph Power legally acquired that land himself.

Joseph and Isabella Power had at least eight
children who grew to adulthood on the farm on
the Chattahoochee. Several of them married and
settled nearby on land that, according to family
tradition, was given to them by their father.

The Powers’ eldest son, Jim Power, married Rosa
Dodds Austin, probably around 1840, and they
built a house on Lot 221 just southwest of his par-
ent’s home some time after that. Remodeled by the
Hydes in the 1920s, Jim and Rosa Power’s house is
now at the core of Hyde Farm.

George Abner Power, Joseph and Isabella’s fourth
son, married Winifred Copeland in January 1843,
and they too built a house nearby. Their house on
Land Lot 217, just southwest of Hyde Farm, is now
owned by Cobb Landmarks and Historical Society.

In January 1844, the Powers’ third son, William
Hill Power, married Sarah Martin. His father had
given him Land Lot 83, where he had already built
a house, on the DeKalb (now Fulton) County side
of the river adjacent to the river ford in 1839. Ar-
cheologists documented two antebellum building
campaigns that created that house, and it is pos-
sible that one of those campaigns was carried out
by William to accommodate a growing family.

Joseph and Isabella’s youngest son Pinkney Joseph
Power (1830-1914) also built near his parent’s farm
after his marriage in 1850, building first in Lot 223



and later in Lot 213 near the corner of Hyde Road
and Lower Roswell Road. Both houses are now
gone with only the reconstructed well remaining at
the site of his first house on the east side of Hyde
Road a short distance north of Hyde Farm.

As was often the custom, Joseph and Isabella’s
daughters did not inherit property; but they did
marry into neighboring families and settle nearby.
About 1846, Mary Elizabeth married Joseph Mar-
tin, who may have been her sister-in-law Sarah’s
brother. They built a house in Lot 214 on the
southwest side of the intersection of what are now
Hyde Road and Lower Roswell Road and estab-
lished the cemetery in that land lot where several
of the Power family are buried.

Of the few Cobb County records to survive the
courthouse fire in 1864 are tax rolls from 1848,
1849, and 1851. The 1848 roll, which is the most
detailed, shows that Joseph Power was taxed on
just over 250 acres along the river in east Cobb
County. Half of it was valued as “2nd quality
upland” of mixed oak, hickory, and pine, while the
rest was considered “3rd quality upland” of mostly
pine with some oak and hickory. In addition, he
was shown owning 160 acres just south of Ebene-
zer Road in northeastern Cobb County, 160 acres
near Dalton, 160 acres near Blairsville, and 40 acres
in southeastern Cherokee County.

M d

kerson =

Y P a%‘t’:?y
EMFI'LAEID

Founlalrll

*“*-“-"- PRGHES

E
Shop Cir o d‘;ﬁ-g SR =5
R
PARKCREST|CT . e h-08 i
PARKCREST Shop i, | ‘““
: la

84 THE .’J\ .. R

MEADOWS

o _
| §
THI FounTAIR AR
WOQLAWY, 7
S e

= .- ¥
o

'i”‘“”‘j i MILL

/6 VILLAGE | . m wuLsEAmY Th |
,/ I:uhhtu’%

uﬂ T,

25
----------- %

-t T B
5 "’% 48 ¥ SAINT
3 e LYONN

CWW o

HistoricaL BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT

Isabella Power died in October 1848 at the age of
67 and was perhaps the first burial in what is now
known as the Power-Martin Cemetery, which is
located just off Lower Roswell Road a quarter
mile west of Hyde Road. Named for Isabella and
Joseph’s daughter Elizabeth’s in-laws, the small
cemetery contains the remains of several members
of the extended Power family.

By the time the Federal census was recorded in
the summer of 1850, Joseph Power’s children
were all grown and married. He, too, had married
again, this time to Nancy Garrett, who was born in
South Carolina about 1790. In addition, Joseph’s
younger brother Thomas was also in the house-
hold. He died in 1852 and is probably buried in an
unmarked grave in the Power-Martin Cemetery.
Joseph claimed $1000 in real estate and still listed
his occupation as “farmer” as did nearly all of his
neighbors. By the time of the 1860 census, he had
apparently divested himself of most of his real
estate, so that what remained was valued at only
$100.

Joseph Power died on 10 June 1875 and was buried
next to his first wife in the Power-Martin Cem-
etery. He was 95 years old.

Jim and Rosa Power
The date of Jim and Rosa Power’s marriage has
not been documented, but since their first child,
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Figure 2. Detail from modern map of vicinity of Hyde Farm, showing numbered land lots that were surveyed in 1832. Hyde
Farm encompasses Land Lots 216, 221, 282, and the southern half of 222.

National Park Service 9



John A. Power, was born in 1840 or 1841, they
probably married around 1839. Five more children
were born to the couple over the next few years:
Henry Collins Power, born 31 August 1842; Tabitha
Charlotte Power, born 17 November 1844; Emily T.
Power, born 13 February 1847; William Reynolds
Power, born 10 March 1849; and James Whitfield
Power, 15 April 1852.

Because some property owners had their prop-
erty records re-recorded after the courthouse fire,
Cobb County land records today include recorded
conveyances of nearby land lots to George and
Pinkney Power along with the deed for Land

Lots 211, 221, and 226 for which Jim Power paid
his father $200 on 2 October 1848. Land lot 221
encompasses the core of Hyde Farm, including the
main house and outbuildings, while 211 and 226
are located less than a mile to the north, encom-
passing the land around the small lake in the Tally
Green subdivision and part of the River Sound
subdivision off Lower Roswell Road. By that time,
Jim Power also owned Land Lot 157, which he
bought from John G. Felton in October 1845, and
Land Lots 212 and 225, which he bought for $50
from Thurston Bloom of Bibb County in July 1847.
Land Lot 157 encompasses parts of the modern
New Bedford and Chattahoochee Heights subdivi-
sions northwest of Hyde Farm, while Land Lots
212 and 225 lie directly south of Land Lots 211 and

Figure 3. Detail from “Map illustrating the Fifth Epoch of the Atlanta Campaign,”

ford, and ferry in the 1860s. (Library of Congress).
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226 noted above.*

The 1850 Federal census lists Jim Power as a
“farmer” like his father, brothers, and most of his
neighbors. Although he certainly owned real estate,
no valuation was recorded in the census that year.
Power may have acquired additional property in
the 1850s, since the 1860 census records the value
of his real estate at $3,000 with another $400 in
personal property. By contrast, his brother George
claimed only $800 in real estate and $300 in per-
sonal property. Their youngest brother, Pinkney,
or P. ], claimed $1000 in real estate, and $1300 in
personal property, much of the latter no doubt
embodied in the single 36-year-old, male, African-
American slave whom he owned. That same year
his uncle Judge Power was recorded as owning two
slaves. These were the only Power family members
in Cobb County whose ownership of slaves has
been documented.

Civil War

Two of James and Rosa Power’s sons enlisted in
the Confederate army in the early years of the war.
Their oldest son, John, enlisted in Phillips Legion
in the heady days of August 1861, but was captured

4. Cobb Deed Book AA, pp. 80-81. These deeds were not
recorded until 1901. Cobb County Deed Book Y, p. 77, 78,
and 79.
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during the Maryland campaign, perhaps even at
Antietam, in the fall of 1862. Paroled at Keedysville,
Maryland, on 20 September 1862 and shown as
“present” in early 1863, he died sometime there-
after and was buried at Spotsylvania Confederate
Cemetery.

His younger brother Henry did not enlist until
March 1862 but also served in Phillips Legion,
which fought at Antietam, Gettysburg, Chickam-
auga, and the horrible war of attrition in Virginia in
1864. Finally, in March 1865 as the Confederacy’s
inevitable defeat became more and more appar-
ent, he deserted, signed a Union loyalty oath and
returned home after the surrender.

Early in 1864, as the threat to the state from Gen-
eral Sherman’s army became clear, Georgia made a
last-ditch effort to raise troops. A census was taken
of all adult males aged sixteen to sixty who were
not yet under arms in preparation for drafting a
militia to augment the regular Confederate forces.
Both James Cooper Power, whose age was incor-
rectly stated as 58, and his brother George Abner
Power, 45, were listed as farmers in Cobb County’s
997th Militia District.

In June and July of 1864, the Civil War raged across
Cobb County as General Sherman’s campaign for
Atlanta reached its climax. According to official
records, Gen. O. O. Howard’s corp of the Army

of the Tennessee built a bridge at Powers Ferry

“2 miles below” Shallow Ford. It was, no doubt, a
pontoon bridge over which thousands of soldiers
would have crossed into Fulton County. Although
no documentation has been located for the ef-

fect the fighting and troop movements had on the
farms of Joseph Power and his children, they must
have been severe. In June, the Confederate army of
63,000 with as many as 15,000 horses ranged across
the county, foraging as they went. With their retreat
to, and then across, the Chattahoochee River after
the Battle of Kennesaw Mountain on June 27, the
entire county was soon over-run by the Union
army with as many as 100,000 men and 35,000
horses. Besides the destruction of trees, fencing,
and small buildings to fuel tens of thousands of
camp fires, by early July, foraging by both sides pro-
duced reports that “neither grass, wheat, nor other
forage between Smyrna and Roswell [remained] on
which to subsist his stock; Wheeler’s [Confederate]
cavalry had eaten the country clean.”

On July 12, Federal troops finished crossing the
river, moving from Marietta to Roswell via the
main Roswell Road and the lower “river road” and
building trestle bridges across the river near Sope

HistoricaL BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT

Creek and at Roswell and pontoon bridges at James
Power’s and Hardy Pace’s ferries. According to lo-
cal history, “from Vinings to Roswell,” an area that
included the Power farms, “the river bank teemed
with [Union soldiers] in the midst of preparations
for leaving the county.” Although the Power family
could have joined the thousands of refugees trying
to get out of the way of war and hoping for the best
as far as their property was concerned, traditional
stories within the family suggest otherwise.’

The Powers would have witnessed the effective
destruction of their farms. Although they managed
to save their houses, they were probably helpless to
prevent the requisition of their sheep, hogs, cattle,
chickens, and any other edible farm produce. Fenc-
es and small outbuildings could also be easily torn
down to furnish fuel for the campfires that dotted
the countryside as tens of thousands of troops en-
camped in eastern Cobb County. Whether or not

5. Temple, pp. 331, 336.

Figure 4. View of home of James and Rosa Power’s daughter
Tabitha Power Reed and her family on Lower Roswell Road.
At right, note the well house, which is very similar in form
to the one at Hyde Farm. (Vanishing Georgia Collection)

Figure 5. View of home of James Power’s brother Pinkney
Power and his wife Lathia on what is now Hyde Road.
Note what appears to be a transverse crib barn in the
background at left. (Sandy Springs Heritage Foundation)
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the Powers could protect all of their other personal
possessions from the marauding troops, deserters,
and common thieves who plundered the country-
side after the Federal army crossed the river on July
11-12 is not known.

In addition to the loss of farm produce and live
stock, Judge James Power’s daughter remembered
that “the ground [around her father’s farm] was
ruined for years” by the movement of troops and
equipment. The same may also have been true for
at least some of George and Jim Power’s bottom
land along the river, although they were fortunate
in not being located at a major river crossing.®

Reconstruction

How the Power family coped with the aftermath of
the Civil War has not been documented, but some
indications of the war’s effects can be gleaned from
a comparison of the 1860 and 1870 census. Unfor-
tunately, the census taker appears to have skipped

6. See unpublished typescript memoirs of Mrs. J. R. (Sallie
Anderson) Miller, a grand-daughter of Judge James Power
(1790-1870).

Hyde Road since neither Joseph Power, his sons
Pinkney and Jim, nor their sister Elizabeth Martin
can be located in the 1870 census of Cobb County
or anywhere else, although other family members
have been identified.

Although Pinkney Power was enumerated with

a single slave in 1860 and Judge Power with two,
none of the Power family depended on slaves

for their livelihood. As a result, they did not have
the typical incentives to engage tenant farmers or
sharecroppers as those relatively new arrange-
ments began to take hold in the late 1860s and early
1870s. Nevertheless, as the Power siblings aged and
their children grew up, married, and began their
own families, some of them did turn to sharecrop-
pers or tenant farmers in order to ensure that their
land continued to be cultivated.”

7. Sharecroppers typically worked for a share of the crop
after the cost of seed, tools, housing, and so forth had been
deducted. Tenant farmers simply rented the land, which
usually included a dwelling, and made what they could us-
ing their own supplies. Tenancy was generally preferred by
landless farmers since it allowed them more freedom.

Figure 6. View of Jim and Rosa Power at their house, c. 1890. In the background at right is what appears to be a double-
crib barn. No other nineteenth-century images of the house, which is now at the core of the Power-Hyde House, have been
located. (Vanishing Georgia Collection)
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The marriage of James and Rosa Power’s oldest
daughter, Tabitha, to James W. Reed in October
1865 must have brought some happiness to the
family after the loss of their son and the generally
difficult living conditions of the immediate post-
war period. In the late 1860s, the Reeds would give
Jim and Rosa Power their first three grandchildren
before Tabitha’s untimely death on New Years Eve
1885.

In 1870, the Powers’ oldest surviving son, Henry
Collins Power, married Hester A. Austin, and they,
too, apparently set up housekeeping nearby. By
1880, however, they had moved to Ohio, where

she was born. They apparently did not stay long,
returning to Georgia by the time their last child was
born in 1882.

In January 1871, the Powers’ daughter Emily mar-
ried Richard W. Bellah, who had fought along side
her brothers in Phillips Legion and was the son of
the well-known Methodist minister Samuel Bellah.
They later built a house on Lower Roswell Road

a short distance north and east of Hyde Farm and
there raised four children.

Most of the Power family continued to farm, as
they had for generations, but after the Civil War, a
few of the younger generation saw other opportu-
nities. George and Winnie Power’s youngest son,
Charles, for instance, managed to get an education,
culminating in his graduation from North Georgia
Agricultural College at Dahlonega, and became

a school teacher and eventually served as school
superintendent in several Georgia counties.

Likewise, Jim and Rosa Power’s son William
Reynolds Power,did not choose the life of a farmer.
He graduated with honors from the University of
Georgia in 1874 and taught school before moving
to Marietta in 1877 or 1878 where he studied law
under Judge George N. Lester and was admitted

to the bar. He married Clara Pearce of Decatur

in 1879 and they operated a boarding house on
Lemon Street for a few years. Their first and only
child, James Pearce Power, was born in 1881. Reyn-
olds Power, as the elder Power was known, went
on to become one of the county’s more prominent
citizens in the late nineteenth century. In 1881, he
was secretary of the county’s first Board of Edu-
cation and served on the Board of Education for
the next twenty years. In 1887, he was one of the
incorporators of Marietta Bank, which was later
reorganized as the First National Bank, and he was
part of the committee that established the Marietta
Public Library in 1893.

HisToricaL BAckGROUND AND CONTEXT

Jim and Rosa Power’s youngest son, James Whit-
field Power, also did not remain a farmer for long
after his marriage to Samantha Jolley in 1877.

They remained in Cobb County, where their first
child was born the following year. In the 1880
census they were enumerated in Merritt’s District
in eastern Cobb County, living next door to J. A.
Hyde, whose son Jesse would later buy Hyde Farm.
Power’s occupation was listed as farmer, but the
census also indicated that he suffered from “rup-
ture” (hernia) and his wife from “liver disease.” His
poor health may have contributed to his decision
to stop farming, and by 1900 the family was liv-

ing on Lemon Street a few doors from his brother
Reynolds Power, and he was working as a railroad
porter. The 1910 census shows him as an employee
of an unidentified paper mill.

As he turned sixty in 1874, Jim Power could no
longer depend on his sons for help with the farm
and like many of his neighbors with more land than
labor, he turned to tenants and sharecroppers.
James Alexander Hyde (1847-1919) was a South
Carolina native and Civil War veteran who came

to the Mt. Bethel community in the fall of 1874
and began working “on shares” for Jim Power the
following year. He continued to work with Power
for twenty-two years, and rented land from George
Power as well.®

Rosa Power died on 27 September 1894 and was
buried at the Mt. Bethel Church cemetery. Jim
Power spent the last years of his life living with his
daughter Emily Bellah and her family, who appar-
ently moved in with him. James Cooper Power died
on 20 July 1901 at the age of 86 and was buried
next to Rosa at Mt. Bethel. *

Power died intestate, still owning all or parts of
Land Lot 159, 160, 211, 212, 216, 221, 222, 225,
226, and 282. In February 1906, the property was
finally auctioned as part of the estate settlement.
William Reynolds Power’s son and Jim and Rosa’s
grandson James Pearce Power bought lots 216, 221,
222, and 282, encompassing the bulk of what be-
came Hyde Farm, while lots 160, 211, and 226 were
conveyed to Jim and Rosa’s son Henry C. Power.
Daughter Emily T. Bellah gained title to lots 159,
212, and 225.1°

The Power Farm in the Early

8. Oral tradition within the Hyde family has recorded the
date of J. A. Hyde’s arrival in Cobb County. In his videotaped
interview in 1986, J. C. Hyde stated that his grandfather

sharecropped with Jim Power for twenty-two years.
9. “Death of Mr. Power,” The Marietta Journal, 25 July 1901.
10. Cobb County Deed Book Il, pp. 185, 192, and 220.
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Twentieth Century

Born in 1881, James Pearce Power had gone to
work for the railroad while he was still in his teens
and living with his parents. He married Lucy
Gunter in 1903 and their first child was born in
January 1905. What he planned to do with the farm
is unclear, but if he intended to leave the railroad
and become a farmer, he soon changed his mind.
Perhaps the expectation of a second child, who
arrived in late 1906 or early 1907, influenced his
decision but, for whatever reason, he conveyed
title to the farm to his father in October 1906. If he
had not done so already, he and Lucy moved the
family to Atlanta where they were sharing a house
with her brothers on Gordon Street in West End
in 1910, and he was working as a clerk with the
railroad.

In June 1913, Reynolds Power borrowed $1500
from the First National Bank of Marietta using as
collateral the family farm, which at that time en-
compassed Land Lots 216, 221, 282, and the south
half of 222. The purpose of the loan is not known
but it may have been used, at least in part, to fund
some improvements that appear to have been made
at the farm during this period, including construc-
tion of a large new barn. It is also not clear who
was living at the farm during this period, but Power
would probably have not had much difficulty con-
tinuing to rent the land. The first two decades of
the twentieth century were a prosperous period for
most farmers in the South and, for the first time in
decades, it was actually possible for tenant farmers
and sharecroppers to make a small profit.

Reynolds Power had run for a seat in the state
legislature in 1890 and was defeated by only one
vote, but he apparently did not try for public office
again. He remained active in politics, however,
which led to his service as lieutenant colonel on the
staffs of governors Walter Y. Atkinson (1894-1898),
Allen D. Candler (1898-1902), and Joe M. Brown
(1909-1911 and 1912-1913). He was also warrant
clerk during Governor Brown’s last term of office.
In addition, he acted as “enforcement attorney” for
the U. S. Food Administration in 1918.

The children of Cobb County pioneers Joseph

and Isabella Powers were passing away in the early
twentieth century, beginning with the death of
James Cooper Power in 1901. His brother George
Abner Power died on 10 October 1914 and the
youngest of the siblings, Pinkney J. Power, died

just ten days later. The last of Joseph and Isabella
Power’s children, Martha Jane Power Jackson, died
in 1924.
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The third generation of the Power family in Cobb
County was also passing. The oldest of Jim and
Rosa Power’s children, John A. Power, had died
during the Civil War and their oldest daughter
Tabitha Charlotte Power Reed in 1885. Their
second son Henry Collins Power died in 1909,
followed by his youngest brother, James Whitfield
Power, who died in 1916. Then on 4 March 1919,
four days before his 70th birthday, William Reyn-
olds Power himself died, leaving only Emily alive of
Jim and Rosa’s five children. He was buried at Citi-
zens Cemetery in Marietta and memorialized by
the Georgia Bar Association at their annual meet-
ing at Tybee Island in May 1919. Clara, his widow,
moved to Atlanta and spent the remainder of her
life with their only son. She died in 1930.

For whatever reason, William Reynolds Power’s
heirs were unable or unwilling to prevent the
bank’s foreclosure on the mortgage that he had
taken out in 1913, and the old Power farm was put
up for auction on 2 January 1920. The successful
bidder was none other than Jesse Hyde, son of
James A. Hyde who had begun renting land from
Jim Power in 1874.

The Hyde Family

The Hyde family has not been as well documented
as the Power family and much more remains to be
learned about them as the oral history project for
Hyde Farm proceeds. Already, however, the out-
lines of the family’s history have emerged through
research in the Federal census, tax and land
records in Cobb County, and local newspapers and
histories. A videotaped interview with J. C. Hyde
that was conducted by Kennesaw State University
history professor Tom Scott in May 1986 and a
history of the Hyde family that was compiled by J.
C. Hyde’s niece Shirley Gaddis Jordan have been
especially useful.

Hyde is a name with English origins, but the fam-
ily’s original entry into this country has not been
documented. The family may have helped pioneer
upstate South Carolina when it was opened for
settlement in the late eighteenth century, and it was
there that one Stephen A. Hyde (1804-1875) was
born. Pickens County, South Carolina, was orga-
nized in 1824, and the family appears in the Federal
census of that county in 1830, although they prob-
ably were in that same location for decades before.

Stephen Hyde married Martha Sandford (1806-
1890) sometime in the early 1820s, and it appears



that their first child was James Newton Hyde
(1824-1910), the great-grandfather of J. C. Hyde,
Hyde Farm’s last owner. From all appearances,
Stephen Hyde was not a typical yeoman farmer,
although he probably cultivated a few dozen acres
with the help of his family. At least in the 1850
census, his occupation is listed as “miller,” and
although he was shown with real estate valued at
$500, it is not certain that he actually owned a mill
since that is the only census in which he listed his
occupation as “miller.” For unknown reasons,
sometime between 1853 and 1860, Stephen Hyde
must have sold his property in Pickens County and
moved his family, including his widowed, 85-year-
old mother, Susannah Hyde, to Dawson County in
north Georgia, where he appears to have remained
until his death in 1875.

James N. Hyde—he was generally listed as “J. N.
Hyde” in the Federal census, but his descendants
refer to him as “Newt”—grew to adulthood in
Pickens County, South Carolina, and it was likely
there that he married Hannah Massey (1823-1898)
on 14 December 1844. They cannot be located in
the 1850 census, but the 1860 census shows them
in Pickens County, where they probably had been
all along. By then five of their eight children had
been born, including their second son, James Alex-
ander Hyde (1847-1919), who would later move to
Cobb County, Georgia, where his own son, Jesse,
would purchase what is now Hyde Farm. The 1860
Federal census shows Newt Hyde with real estate
valued at $1,200, which was more than twice the
value of his father’s estate.

Although Newt Hyde did not own slaves, he
nevertheless volunteered to fight in the Civil War,
enlisting in the South Carolina cavalry in Walhalla
on 4 December 1861. According to his pension
application in 1897, he continued in service until
shortly before the surrender, although he appears
to have returned home briefly in the fall of 1862.
Nine months later, Hannah Hyde gave birth to
their eighth child.

The Hydes’ eldest son, John, also enlisted early in
the war and, in August 1864, seventeen-year-old
James Alexander Hyde also enlisted in the South
Carolina cavalry and fought along side his father
and brother in the Confederacy’s last-ditch stand.
All three were apparently with General Johnston’s
Confederate army when it surrendered to General
Sherman near Raleigh, North Carolina, in April
1865. In the confusion of that time, Newt and John
were separated from James, who was captured and
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spent a short time as a prisoner of war in a military
hospital. Badly wounded in the fighting, his leg was
marked for amputation when he fled and went into
hiding. Meanwhile, Newt and John had returned
home, and several months passed before John
could return to look for his brother, finding him in
Raleigh and, according to the family, carrying him
home on his back.

Newt Hyde was apparently ruined by the Civil
War, and in 1866, he moved his family to Franklin
County, across the Savannah River in northeast
Georgia. Continuing to farm, Hyde also worked as
a stone mason, made shoes, and operated a distill-
ery. By 1870 he was in Habersham County, a few
miles east of his parents’ home in Dawson County,
and was farming and working as a stone mason.
The census that year showed him owning no real
estate and with only $250 in personal property, half
of what he had claimed in 1860.

Newt’s father, Stephen Hyde, died in 1875, and
by 1880, Newt and Hannah had moved the fam-
ily back to Franklin County. Hannah Hyde died in
1898, and the 1900 census shows Newt living with
his son William, whose wife had also recently died,
and William’s three-year-old son. At his death on
25 March 1910, Newt Hyde had, in addition to

his eight children, forty-three grandchildren and
sixty-eight great-grandchildren. He was buried at
Liberty Baptist Church in Madison County, Geor-
gia, where his son William was then living.

James Alexander Hyde

Newt and Hannah Hyde’s son James Alexan-

der Hyde moved to Georgia with his parents in
1866 and was still living with them in Habersham
County, Georgia, when the Federal census was
taken in 1870. Probably in 1871, J. A. Hyde married
Caren “Carrie” Stephens (1848-1911), daughter of
David and Frances Ellison Stephens. They appar-
ently began their married life together in Franklin
County, where the Stephens family lived, and it was
there that their first child Alice was born in August
1872.

In 1866, Congress passed the Southern Homestead
Act, opening up 46 million acres of public land in
Alabama, Arkansas, Florida, Louisiana, and Missis-
sippi to anyone willing to settle and begin farming
the land. It was the prospect of free land that pre-
cipitated James and Carrie Hydes’ decision to move
to “Alabam.” They planned to make the move in
stages, and probably in the fall of 1873, they moved
to Cherokee County where they rented a farm for
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the following season. Then in the fall of 1874, after
their crop in Cherokee County was in, Hyde came
to Cobb County, where he met Jim Power and
quickly struck a deal for rental of some of Power’s
land on Lower Roswell Road.

It is not known why Hyde chose Cobb County, but
the 1870 Federal census documents one John W.
Hyde living with his wife and children in Acworth
in northeastern Cobb County. It is possible that
this was James’ older brother, cousin, or other
relative, and might explain why the younger Hyde
decided to move to Cobb County in the first place.
In any event, Hyde liked working with Jim Power
and, since repeal of the Southern Homestead Act
in 1876 deprived him of any incentive to get to
Alabama, Cobb County was soon the Hydes’ per-
manent home.

Economic conditions could not have been worse
for the young Hyde family when they moved to
Cobb County. They, like the rest of the country,
were unlucky as the collapse of the nation’s bank-
ing system in the fall of 1873 sent the nation’s econ-
omy into a tailspin and an economic depression.
Lasting for sixty-five months, the Long Depression,
as it has been called by some historians, devastated
the economy, particularly in the South.

The region’s dependence on cotton only made
matters worse. World-wide production of cotton
had soared after the Civil War, buoyed by high
prices that had not been seen even in the heady
days of the 1850s. One scholar of Georgia agricul-
ture summed up the situation:

By 1869 great numbers of people were again
accepting the belief that the South was fit for
nothing but cotton. “The idea seems yet to
prevail,” declared a writer in Albany, “that
cotton is king, and all wisdom can’t root it out.”
“The high price of cotton has put everybody to
killing grass,” lamented another observer who
also saw virgin forests being cleared for cotton
and “depots full of guano and [imported]
bacon.” It seemed agreed that as long as cotton
was 25¢ people would “talk cotton, dream
cotton, and eat cotton”. ... Life was a dream a

feverish dream of Cotton! Cotton! Cotton! !!

Inevitably, prices fell in the face of such overpro-
duction, sliding from $.15 a pound in 1873 to as
little as $.08 a pound in 1880. By the 1890s, cotton
was selling for less than a nickel a pound, which
was lower than the cost of production.

Throughout the last half of the nineteenth cen-
tury, Southern agricultural leaders had recognized

11. Willard Range, A Century of Georgia Agriculture, 1850-
1950 (Athens, GA: University of Georgia Press, 1954), p. 91.
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the high cost of the region’s devotion to cotton,
and there were repeated calls for diversification.
Besides the fact that cotton was an inordinately
labor-intensive crop and was ruinous to the fertility
of the soils, the over-emphasis on cotton led to the
neglect of food products that might help make the
South self-sufficient. As a result, Southerners had to
import great quantities of bacon, flour, and other
staples that it should have been able to raise itself.
In spite of the opportunity that the war gave to re-
order agricultural production, that did not happen.
The percentage of Georgia’s cropland devoted to
cotton rose steadily through the remainder of the
nineteenth century, rising from around 30% in
1870 to over 40% in 1880 to nearly 50% in 1900.

Precisely how the Hydes responded to the difficul-
ties farmers faced during this period is not known,
but like most, they probably simply persevered,
struggling from one year to the next. They appar-
ently maintained excellent relations with their
landlords, the Powers, however, and may not have
been forced into the kind of debt that made many
tenants and sharecroppers little more than serfs
upon the land. J. A. Hyde was not a typical share-
cropper, owning nothing and depending on the
land owner for everything, including seed, fertiliz-
er, tools, and other supplies. It is true that Hyde did
not own any land in the nineteenth century, but his
arrangement with Jim Power was actually that of a
tenant farmer where he paid rent with a third share
of his corn crop and a fourth of his cotton crop,
both delivered directly to Jim Power. The arrange-
ment must have been satisfactory to both parties
since Hyde continued farming Jim Power’s land for
twenty-two years.!?

It is not certain exactly where J. A. Hyde and his
family lived after they came to Cobb County, but
the 1880 census suggests that they lived in eastern
Cobb County not far from what would become
Hyde Farm. J. C. Hyde remembered that when his
father, Jesse, was born in 1881, the family was living
in a house on the east side of Lower Roswell Road
“beyond the steep curve.” J. A. and Carrie Hyde
had two more children in the 1880s: Bessie, born in
1883, and James Alexander Hyde Jr., born in 1885.

J. A. Hyde appears never to have acquired any real
estate, but continued to work as a tenant farmer all
his life. He apparently continued his arrangement
with Jim Power until about 1896, after which he
rented land from George Power. For a few years,

12. Interview with J. C. Hyde, 9 May 1986, in which he
stated the terms and length of his grandfather’s share-
cropping deal with Jim Power and recalled that his father
remembered delivering corn to Jim Power’s barn.



the Hydes lived in George Power’s “upper house”
on Johnson Ferry Road.

In 1901, the oldest of the Hyde sons, Robert E. Lee
Hyde, married, and he and his wife, Mary Lou,
began housekeeping somewhere near his parents.
Bessie, their youngest daughter, married around
the same time, and she and her husband, William
E. Holt, lived nearby as well. Finally, their son Jesse
married Lela Wallace in 1903, and they, too, set up
housekeeping in the neighborhood.

J. A., Carrie, and their daughter Ida were still living
in eastern Cobb County in 1910, but sometime
after Carrie Hyde died in October 1911, J. A. Hyde
moved in with his son Robert, who owned a farm
in western Cobb County. J. A. Hyde died March
1919, two months short of his 72nd birthday, and
was buried next to his wife at Mt. Bethel Cemetery.
Hyde died intestate, and his son-in-law William E.
Holt was appointed temporary administrator for
the estate. No real estate was recorded, and Holt’s
petition was relatively short:

The petition of W. E. Holt, temporary
Administrator of the estate of J. A. Hyde late
of said County, deceased that shows certain
personal property consisting of: 25 Chickens,
about 125 lbs. meat, household Kitchen
Furniture, 1 one horse spring wagon, farming
tools and 8 or bushels corn, belonging to the
estate of said deceased that is of a perishable
nature, and is likely to deteriorate in value and
that is to the interest and advantage of the estate
that property be sold. Your petitioner pray for

an authorization to sell said property. 13

Jesse Clifford Hyde Sr.

Little has been yet documented of the Hydes’ life
in the last quarter of the nineteenth century. No
doubt Jesse Hyde grew up working with his father,
brothers, and other family members on the farm,
and some of his earliest memories were of what
would later be Hyde Farm. He probably attended
a few grades of grammar school at Mt. Bethel
School, but may have done little more than learn to
read and write, which, however, was something his
parents never accomplished.™

His wife, Sally Lela Eva Wallace, was born in 1882,
the youngest daughter of Joshua and Mary Ann
“Mollie” Hadder Wallace. The Wallaces lived in
Fulton County, just across the river from the Hyde

13. Cobb County Court of Ordinary, Minutes, Book L, Page
136. Additional references to Book L, Page 105, 216, where
administration was transferred from Hyde’s son-in-law to
his son J. A. Hyde, Jr. The ledger notes also Book B, Page
245, 327 and Book B2, Page 74, 375, but these documents
have not been located.

14. Census confirms literacy.
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and Power families and not far from the old Power
ferry and ford. They were themselves neighbors

of some of the descendants of Joseph and Isabella
Power’s son William Hill Power as well as of the
Copelands, relatives of George Abner Power’s wife
Winnie Copeland Power.

The first of Jessie and Lela Hyde’s six children, Wil-
liam H. “Buck” Hyde, was born in 1905, followed
by Pearl Celeste Hyde two years later. In December
1909, they had a second son, named Jesse Clifford
Hyde Jr. but always known simply as J. C."°

Jesse and Lela Hyde had the good fortune to begin
their married life just at the beginning of dra-
matic improvement in the South’s cotton-based
agricultural economy. As one observer noted,
“Cotton prices rose in almost a straight line as the
awful depression of the ‘nineties was forgotten in
a frenzy of worship before King Cotton.” Along
with the rise in prices, there was a huge increase

in the number of farms in the first two decades of
the twentieth century, rising from 224,000 in 1900

15. In Tom Scott’s 1985 interview, J.C. Hyde was asked his
first name. He responded that it was “J.C....all it's ever
been.” The 1910 census gives his name as “Jesse,” while the
1920 and the 1930 census and his father’s obituary give his
name as J. C. Hyde Jr. His grave marker gives the name “J.
C. Hyde.”

Figure 7. Jesse and Lela Hyde, c. 1950. (Shirley Gaddis
Jordan Collection)

National Park Service 17



Figure 8. Buck, left, and J. C. Hyde, c. 1950. (Shirley Gaddis
Jordan Collection)

to 310,000 in 1920. There was a corresponding
increase of 40% in the agricultural labor force, even
in the face of rising migration of African-American
tenant farmers and sharecroppers to better-paying
jobs in the North and away from the indignities of
Jim Crow.!¢

As a result of the general prosperity of the period,
Jesse and Lela were able to do something neither
of their parents had been able to do, which was to
buy their own farm. In August 1911, Jesse Hyde
paid C. C. Fannin $900 for Land Lot 228, five acres
in the southwest corner of 216, and five acres in the
southeast corner of 217, all in the 19th District, 2nd
Section. The land was located about a mile north of
Powder Springs, not far from the Paulding County
line."”

The Hydes remained on that farm for nine years,
and during that time, they had three more children,
all daughters: Mary Maglee, born in 1913, Gladys
Ada, born in 1914, and Rosa Lee Matilda, born

in April 1919, barely two weeks after the death of
Jesse Hyde’s father.

16. Range, A Century of Georgia Agriculture, p. 259.

17. Cobb County Court of Ordinary, Minutes, Book L, Page
136. Additional references to Book L, Page 105, 216, where
administration was transferred from Hyde’s son-in-law to
his son J. A. Hyde, Jr. The ledger notes also Book B, Page
245, 327 and Book B2, Page 74, 375, but these documents
have not been located.
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The year 1919 was a time of turmoil as the United
States began demobilizing from World War I and
continued burying those tens of thousands of dead
from the Spanish Influenza pandemic, which had
broken out in Georgia in late September 1918 and
ultimately killed ten times as many Americans as
the war itself. In November 1919, Jesse Hyde sold
twenty acres on the north side of Land Lot 290,
which adjoined the south side of Land Lot 228,

to his brother Robert and was perhaps already
anticipating a move. The “little farm” near Lost
Mountain was their own, but according to J. C., his
parents “always wanted to get back on the river”
where they both grew up.

They may have been aware of William Reynolds
Power’s death in March 1919 and probably hoped
that the property would be sold. The price of cot-
ton had skyrocketed during World War I, reaching
its peak with the crop of 1919. For the first time,
significant numbers of tenant farmers and share-
croppers like the Hydes found the opportunity to
become landowners, and between 1918 and 1921,
there was a “veritable land boom,” according to
one agricultural historian, accompanied by a rapid
increase in land values.

The Hydes were apparently well-positioned to take
advantage of the situation; and when the old Power
farm came up at auction in January 1920, they were
the successful bidders. According to the deed, Jesse
Hyde paid $5,000 for Land Lots 216, 221 (which
included the house), fractional lot 282, and the
south half 222 (which included a second house that
later burned). J. C. Hyde, however, recalled that his
father “traded” the old farm plus $2,000 for the 127
acres at Hyde Farm.!®

Hyde Farm

It is not clear why the Hydes did not move im-
mediately. Perhaps Jim Power’s old farm had been
neglected, and Jesse did not think he could get the
fields ready for planting that year. For whatever
reason they did not move to their new farm until
the fall of 1920.

Unfortunately, by that time, Jesse and Lela Hyde
were faced with an agricultural economy as bad or
worse than that faced by their parents in the 1870s.
The boll weevil, which spread across the state dur-
ing World War I, had caused relatively little damage
at first and was barely noted in the boom years dur-
ing the war. With war’s end, however, cotton prices
began to collapse and, in 1919, boll weevil losses
began to soar as well, reducing yields by as much

18. Cobb County Deed Book 65, p. 474.



as 45% between 1921 and 1923. Greene County,
in eastern Georgia, offered perhaps the starkest
illustration of the devastation when its production
of cotton fell from 20,000 bales in 1919 to only 333
in 1923. Thus, the two-decade run of prosperity
for Georgia farmers came to a sharp end in the
summer of 1920 as agricultural prices dropped
“precipitously throughout the nation, spreading
consternation and havoc on farms and in small
towns everywhere.”

Truck Farming

Certainly the Hydes must have been worried as
they returned to eastern Cobb County that fall, but
unlike many Georgia farmers, they were able to
regroup. In 1921, they began the transition from a
dependence on cotton to truck farming, growing
vegetables and other produce for sale in Atlanta
and other local markets."” Truck farming, some-
times called market farming, had been touted as

a way for Southern farmers to break the grip of
King Cotton from an early date, but the South had
always been hampered by the lack of large market
towns.As late as 1900, Georgia had only six towns
with a population over 10,000. Nevertheless, un-
like many farmers elsewhere in rural Georgia, the
Hydes and other farmers around Atlanta were able
to transition away from cotton production as their

19. J. C. Hyde dated the start of their truck farming (and he
used that term) to 1921 in his interview with Tom Scott.
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sole cash crop by turning to truck farming. Milk,
eggs, poultry, and produce of all kinds gave local
farmers the opportunity to prosper even while agri-
cultural lands in other parts of the state were being
abandone